THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
MAR 10 2014
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

G. THOMAS COOPER, JR., CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NUMBER: 2013-001382

Latonya Footman,Claimant/Appellant,

vs.

Johnson Food Services, LLC, Employer, and The Hartford, Carrier,Defendants/Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew N. Safran, Esquire
Post Office Box 12089
Columbia, South Carolina 29211.
(803) 256-6689
Attorney for Claimant/Appellant.

and

Ann McCrowey Mickle, Esquire
Mickle and Bass, LLC
Post Office Box 5639
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
803-929-0029
Attorneys for Claimant/Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err in affirming the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's May 30, 2012 permanent disability award when: (a) this determination is materially based upon a factual finding that Appellant, Latonya Footman, "has been released with no restrictions, and has returned to work (full duty) with both of her employers"; (b) the evidence of record firmly establishes that neither her authorized treating physician nor the second opinion specialist granted the purported "full duty" release; (c) a review of the relevant evidence, as referenced in the Commission's Order, unquestionably confirms she is working within restrictions imposed by the second opinion specialist, while receiving accommodations in connection with her limitations; and (d) this absence of evidentiary support rendered the Commission's disability assessment legally erroneous per S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380 (A) (5) (Supp. 2012)?

2. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to conclude the Commission has engaged in a legally insufficient fact finding process relative to its determination to afford a remote (February 1, 2008) reference to grip strength consistency "great weight" in connection with the 2012 assessment of her permanent disability when: (a) the purported basis for this finding ("these are notes of Claimant's own expert") provides no insight as to the relationship between this isolated statement and Ms. Footman's degree of residual permanent disability; (b) our Appellate Courts have consistently required an administrative agency to enter factual findings which sufficiently explain the underlying rationale for its rulings; (c) this Court has similarly rejected the notion that the Commission's "medical opinion" constitutes either evidence or an appropriate basis for affirming a ruling of this nature; and (d) entry of this conclusory finding, which offers no

legally tenable explanation as to the reasoning behind attributing “great weight” to this comment, constituted an error of law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the May 30, 2012 Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission (Commission), which was subsequently affirmed by Order of the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. dated April 1, 2013. Appellant, Latonya Footman, similarly appeals Judge Cooper's denial of her April 15, 2013 S.C.R.C.P. Rule 59 (e) Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment.

In 2006, Ms. Footman developed bilateral arm symptoms, which were subsequently diagnosed to be reflective of carpal tunnel syndrome. When Respondents, Johnson Food Services, LLC and The Hartford, denied the compensability of her injuries per the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act, she sought evaluation from Dr. Joseph P. Jackson, Jr. of Camden Orthopaedic Associates, who confirmed: (a) her bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome "most probably result[ed] . . . from her performance of repetitive activities incidental to her job" with this employer; and (b) right carpal tunnel surgery was warranted. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 242 - 243).

Shortly thereafter, Respondents admitted liability for Ms. Footman's injuries and directed her to Dr. Michael S. Green for further evaluation. Although Dr. Green acknowledged the presence of "bilateral moderate carpal tunnel syndromes", he essentially limited treatment to the right arm (performing a carpal tunnel release on March 1, 2007) and initially discharged her from care on April 9, 2007. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 261-265).

When her bilateral arm problems persisted, Ms. Footman was reevaluated by Dr. Jackson (August 13, 2007), who: (a) felt she was also exhibiting evidence of cubital tunnel syndrome; and (b) suggested obtaining updated electrodiagnostic testing. This

development prompted Respondents to redirect Ms. Footman to Dr. Green (August 24, 2007), who concurred with Dr. Jackson's recommendation of "EMG/NCS of both upper extremities to evaluate her ulnar nerve function." (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 244 – 245; 266).

While this testing confirmed the presence of both left carpal tunnel syndrome and right cubital tunnel syndrome, Dr. Green, who mistakenly assumed Ms. Footman had "underwent a procedure for both of these conditions, one on the right upper extremity and one on the left", offered no additional treatment and again discharged her from active care (February 15, 2008). (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 267 - 270). At that time, he assigned permanent physical impairment ratings of 2% to each upper extremity. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 270).

Conversely, Dr. Jackson (February 1, 2008) felt the results of these electrodiagnostic studies were reflective of a bilateral cubital tunnel syndrome, for which he recommended several nonsurgical treatment options. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 246 - 247). During this visit, he also sensed Ms. Footman's right-sided grip strength effort was lacking, to the extent he "pointed out the consistency of effort in grip strength as a basic element of building a doctor/patient relationship". (See, Record on Appeal, p. 247).

Additionally, after further examining Ms. Footman on May 15, 2008, Dr. Jackson verified: (a) she had actually only undergone one surgical procedure for her bilateral arm injuries as of that date; (b) her bilateral cubital tunnel syndrome resulted from the consequences of her compensable accident; and (c) these injuries had not only produced medical impairment, but also necessitated the imposition of work restrictions (no

repetitive use of her arms, no lifting or exertion of force in excess of 20 lbs.). (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 248 – 252).

Consistent with the parties' previous pattern of action, Respondents then redirected Ms. Footman to Dr. Green (June 27, 2008), who not only agreed with Dr. Jackson's diagnoses, but also implemented one of his treatment recommendation (splinting for the right cubital tunnel syndrome). As he felt she was "not ready for any surgical procedure", Dr. Green again released Ms. Footman from treatment (August 11, 2008). (See, Record on Appeal, p. 272).

Shortly thereafter, Dr. Green offered a variety of opinions relative to the nature of Ms. Footman's causally related pathology, her previous course of treatment and the functional impact of her injuries in the context of an October 3, 2008 deposition. Inspection of this deposition also reveals he agreed: (a) Dr. Jackson's ratings fell within the range that could reasonably be assigned for Ms. Footman's particular pathology; and (b) this range (2% – 5%) would be applicable to each of Ms. Footman's distinct injury components (carpal and cubital tunnel syndromes). (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 26 – 27; 34).

When Ms. Footman's symptoms persisted and diagnostic testing revealed a worsening of her nerve dysfunction, Dr. Green performed a left carpal tunnel surgery (November 9, 2010). Although he allowed her to resume working approximately six weeks later, Dr. Green did not release Ms. Footman to unrestricted activity, **but instead indicated she could "progressively use the hand as tolerated."** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 50).

After completing a final examination on April 20, 2011, Dr. Jackson reiterated the causal relationship of Ms. Footman's multiple injury components and assigned impairment ratings for these respective conditions. At that time, this orthopaedic surgeon also **identified continuing physical restrictions, including "lifting no more than 25 lbs, lifting no more than 12 pieces of chicken on a tray. . . [and] only opening 10 large cans per day."** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 253 – 254).

Following a June 8, 2011 hearing, the single commissioner, per Order dated September 16, 2011, noted: (a) **Ms. Footman's "present job duties and responsibility with the Defendants are within the restrictions, which were placed upon the Claimant by Dr. Jackson"**; (b) **"she does experience ongoing pain and problems with her left upper extremity and right upper extremity while in the course and scope of her employment with the Defendants"**; and (c) **"Defendants readily provide the Claimant with accommodations when she experiences left upper extremity and right upper extremity pain and problems while working with Defendants."** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 9).

Additionally, when analyzing the evidence that was particularly relevant to assessment of Ms. Footman's degree of residual permanent disability, the single commissioner found the inconsistency/ambiguity of Dr. Green's impairment ratings necessitated focusing on "other factors", particularly:

(a) Dr. Jackson's February 1, 2008 reference to grip strength consistency, which was **"give[n] . . . great weight for the reason that these are the notes of Claimant's own expert"**;

(b) her lack of prescription medication use or need for "future medicals"; and

(c) the fact she “has been released with no restrictions, and has returned to work (full duty)” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 12).

Based upon these findings, the single commissioner determined Ms. Footman had experienced a 6% permanent partial disability to each arm per S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-9-30 (1976). Although Ms. Footman subsequently challenged the single commissioner’s rulings on various grounds, including a lack of evidentiary support and the use of an arbitrary/unlawful method of analysis, an Appellate Panel of the Full Commission: (a) declined to specifically address these issues; (b) affirmed the single commissioner’s factual findings in their entirety; and (c) mistakenly calculated the value of her permanent disability compensation entitlement. (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 34 – 38).

Pursuant to a Petition filed on July 29, 2012, Ms. Footman sought judicial review of the Commission’s decision. Subsequently, by Order dated April 1, 2013, Judge Cooper: (a) affirmed the Panel’s ruling in their entirety; and (b) characterized the mistaken reduction in Ms. Footman’s disability compensation entitlement as a scrivener’s error. Shortly thereafter, by Order dated May 28, 2013, he likewise denied Ms. Footman’s Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment. This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT I

The Circuit Court erred in affirming the Commission's May 30, 2012 permanent disability award when: (a) this determination is materially based upon a factual finding that Appellant, Latonya Footman, "has been released with no restrictions, and has returned to work (full duty) with both of her employers"; (b) the evidence of record firmly establishes that neither her authorized treating physician nor the second opinion specialist granted the purported "full duty" release; (c) a review of the relevant evidence, as referenced in the Commission's Order, unquestionably confirms she is working within restrictions imposed by the second opinion specialist, while receiving accommodations in connection with her limitations; and (d) this absence of evidentiary support rendered the Commission's disability assessment legally erroneous per S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380 (A) (5) (Supp. 2012).

S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380 (A) (5) (Supp. 2012), which governs judicial review in the current context, provides in pertinent part:

The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decision are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Pursuant to the scope of review established by this statute, the "court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Appellate Panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse or modify the Appellate Panel's decision if the appellant's substantial rights have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is 'clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial

evidence on the whole record.” Rabon v. Arrow Exterminating, Inc., 393 S.C. 510, 713 S.E. 2d 347, 349 (Ct. App. 2011); See also, Therrell v. Jerry’s, Inc., 370 S.C. 22, 633 S.E. 2d 893, 894 - 895 (2006).

Our Appellate Courts have repeatedly held that where “there is no evidence to support a finding of fact made by the Commission”, the resulting determination should be reversed. Sanders v. Richardson, 251 S.C. 325, 162 S.E. 2d 257, 259 (1968); Hutson v. South Carolina State Ports Authority, 399 S.C. 381, 732 S.E. 2d 500, 504 (2012). This rule stems from the recognition that, absent this evidentiary basis, the Commission’s award necessarily “rest[s] . . . upon [impermissible] . . . surmise, conjecture, or speculation.” Glover v. Rhett Jackson Company of Bush River Road, 274 S.C. 644, 267 S.E. 2d 77, 80 (1980); Hutson, 732 S.C. 2d at 503.

A review of Dr. Green’s December 27, 2010 report confirms that upon releasing Ms. Footman from care for the final time, he did not, as on previous occasions, indicate she was capable of performing unrestricted work activities. Rather, he advised her that she could “progressively use the hand **as tolerated.**” (Emphasis added). After performing his final reexamination of Ms. Footman on April 20, 2011, Dr. Jackson similarly declined to allow a return to unrestricted duty and again imposed several restrictions, specifically precluding her from lifting weights exceeding 25 lbs. or trays containing more than 12 pieces of chicken, while limiting her from opening more than 10 large cans per day.

The Commission’s Order likewise references undisputed testimony verifying: (a) Ms. Footman’s “present job duties and responsibilities with the Defendant . . . are within **the restrictions, which were placed upon the Claimant by Dr. Jackson**”; (b) she

continues to “**experience ongoing pain and problems with her left upper extremity and right upper extremity while in the course and scope of her employment with the Defendants**”; and (c) “**Defendants readily provided the Claimant with accommodations when she experiences left upper extremity and right upper extremity pain and problems while working with the Defendant.**”

Given these facts, it cannot be legitimately contested that Dr. Jackson assigned specific work restrictions or that Johnson Food Service is providing accommodations to ensure Ms. Footman’s work activities comply with these restrictions. Additionally, while the Circuit Court held Dr. Green’s December 27, 2012 statement did not constitute a work restriction, this ruling conflicts with relevant decisions of both this Court and the Supreme Court.

Specifically, in Grayson v. Carter Rhoad Furniture, 317 S.C. 306, 454 S.E. 2d 320, 321 – 322 (1995) the Supreme Court determined: (a) the employee’s physician allowed him to return to work, “but warned he ‘should be somewhat careful with lifting, etc.’”; and (b) as the nature of the employee’s job “involved lifting and moving heavy objects . . . , there was no evidence [he] . . . had ever returned to work ‘without restriction’”. More recently, this Court held that medical instructions “to refrain from ‘heavy lifting’ . . . , ‘strenuous activity’ . . . [and] ‘take it easy’” were indicative of restrictions. Cranford v. Hutchinson Construction, 399 S.C. 65, 731 S.E. 2d 303, 308 (Ct. App. 2012).

In this instance, Ms. Footman, at minimum, was medically instructed to limit her performance of work activities (“as tolerated”) in a manner consistent with the scenarios addressed in both Grayson and Cranford. This inability to engage in “full duty” is

actually validated by her need for and receipt of “accommodations” from her employer, as well as the unrefuted evidence establishing “that her present job duties and responsibilities with the Defendants are within the restrictions . . . placed upon [her] . . . by Dr. Jackson.” Based upon these facts, in light of the Courts’ prior analysis of unrestricted work, “there is, in reality, no evidence” to support the Commission’s finding that Ms. Footman “has been released with no restrictions, and has returned to work (full duty)” Grayson, 454 S.E. 2d at 322.

Further, the only reasonable inference which may be gleaned from the evidence of record indicates: (a) Ms. Footman was instructed by Dr. Green to perform only those activities which she could physically tolerate; (b) she came to recognize the restrictions imposed by Dr. Jackson had proven accurate (See, Record on Appeal, p. 174); (c) Ms. Footman actually requires and receives assistance in performing her job duties; and (d) her work activities have not only been restricted by each of her physicians, but Johnson Food Service is also recognizing the presence of these restrictions through provision of assistance with the completion of her job duties.

Consequently, Ms. Footman respectfully submits: (a) the Commission’s finding that she was released to unrestricted work is not supported by any evidence of record, much less the substantial evidence; (b) the absence of work restrictions was identified as a material factor in assessing her degree of residual permanent disability; and (c) this legal error requires a remand of this issue to the Commission for redetermination.

ARGUMENT II

The Circuit Court erred in failing to conclude the Commission has engaged in a legally insufficient fact finding process relative to its determination to afford a remote (February 1, 2008) reference to grip strength consistency “great weight” in connection with the 2012 assessment of her permanent disability because: (a) the purported basis for this finding (“these are notes of Claimant’s own expert”) provides no insight as to the relationship between this isolated statement and Ms. Footman’s degree of residual permanent disability; (b) our Appellate Courts have consistently required an administrative agency to enter factual findings which sufficiently explain the underlying rationale for its rulings; (c) this Court has similarly rejected the notion that the Commission’s “medical opinion” constitutes either evidence or an appropriate basis for affirming a ruling of this nature; and (d) entry of this conclusory finding, which offers no legally tenable explanation as to the reasoning behind attributing “great weight” to this comment, constituted an error of law.

It is axiomatic that the Commission’s factual findings “must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for” them. Wynn v. People’s Natural Gas Co. of S.C., 238 S.C. 1, 118 S.E. 2d 812, 818 (1961); Mullinax v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 318 S.C. 431, 458 S.E. 2d 76, 83 (Ct. App. 1995); Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417, 737 S.E. 2d 200, 206 (Ct. App. 2012). Additionally, “. . . [i]t is not the role of the Commission to render expert opinion.” Edmonds v. Fresenius Medical Care, 165 N.C. App. 811, 600 S.E. 2d 501, 506 (2004) (Steelman, J. dissenting rev’d per curium for reasons stated in dissent), 319 N.C. 313, 608 S.E. 2d 755 (2005); Nale v. Ethan Allen, 199 N.C. App. 511, 682 S.E. 2d 231, 247 (2009) (“It is not for the Commission to render its own expert medical opinion”); accord Burnette, supra (holding “the medical opinion of the single commissioner” neither constituted nor was supported by substantial evidence).

It is equally certain that: (a) conclusory findings of fact “are insufficient.” Baldwin v. James River Corporation, 304 S.C. 485, 405 S.E. 2d 421, 422 (Ct. App.

1991); and (b) “implicit findings of fact are. . . [likewise] not sufficient.” Brayboy v. Clark Heating Company, Inc., 306 S.C. 56, 409 S.E. 2d 767, 768 (1991).

After examining Ms. Footman on February 1, 2008, Dr. Jackson “pointed out the consistency of effort in grip strength as a basic element of building a doctor/patient relationship.” Although a review of the evidence of record verifies the absence of any similar references during the ensuing three year course of treatment (which included additional surgery), the Commission found this remote statement deserved “great weight for the reason that these are the notes of Claimant’s own expert. . . .”

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