THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-001382

LaTonya Footman,,.....Claimant, Appellant,

v.

Johnson Food Services, LLC, Employer,
and The Hartford, Carrier,Defendants, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED
MARCH 27 2014
SOUTH CAROLINA
COURT OF APPEALS

Jason W. Lockhart, Esquire
Brett H. Bayne, Esquire
McANGUS GOUDELOCK & COURIE, LLC
Post Office Box 12519, Capitol Station
Meridian, 1320 Main Street, 10th Floor (29201)
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-2519
(803) 779-2300
Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents

March 25, 2014

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE FULL COMMISSION'S FINDING OF FACT THAT APPELLANT WAS RELEASED TO RETURN TO WORK WITH NO RESTRICTIONS.

The Single Commissioner made the following finding of fact:

“15. Based on the substantial evidence, including medical records and testimony, I find that the Claimant has been released with no restrictions, and has returned to work (full duty) with both of her employers (Deposition of Dr. Green, pages 31-32; Defendants' APA #1, page 13”

(R. p. 12).

On appeal, the Full Commission adopted the Single Commissioner's finding of fact as follows:

“15. Based on the substantial evidence, including medical records and testimony, We find that the Claimant has been released with no restrictions, and has returned to work (full duty) with both of her employers (Deposition of Dr. Green, pages 31-32; Defendants' APA #1, page 13”

(R.p. 21)

The evidence in the record establishes that Appellant was treated for her injuries, reached maximum medical improvement, was released to return to work by her authorized treating physician without any restrictions. The Commission reached this conclusion and made this finding of fact based on two specific pieces of evidence: (1) Dr. Green's deposition testimony (Deposition of Dr. Michael S. Green dated October 3, 2008) (R. pp. 345-346); and (2) the Physicians' Statement (Form 14B) completed by Dr. Green on September 18, 2008. (R. p. 302)

Dr. Green indicated, during his deposition, that he released Appellant to return to regular duty work with no restrictions following her final appointment with his office in August 2008. (R. p. 344, line 23 – p. 345, line 7). After being told about her job

description, Dr. Green stated that she could do it with no restrictions. (R. p. 346, lines 9-20). He did indicate that if Appellant had come back to him and stated that a particular component of her job really bothered her that he would probably advise her to refrain or minimize that particular activity. (R. p. 346, lines 20-25). Dr. Green also noted that his review of Dr. Jackson's records indicated that she was "...okay for a moderate level of activity." (R. p. 347, lines 11-12).

Dr. Green also filled out a Form 14B Physician's Statement for filing with the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. On the Form 14B, Dr. Green, as the authorized treating physician, indicates that Appellant suffered an injury to her left and right upper extremities. (R. p. 302). He further indicates that Appellant reached maximum medical improvement on August 11, 2008 and "...is able to return to work without restriction." (R. p. 302).

Upon review of a decision of the Commission, the trial judge or appellate court is not permitted to substitute his or her or its own findings of fact for those of the Commission. *See Brown v. R.L. Jordan Oil Company*, 291 S.C. 272, 353 S.E.2d 280 (1987). Nor may the court substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence. *See Tobey v. L & P Construction Co.*, 296 S.C. 122, 370 S.E.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1988). Findings of fact can be reversed only if the determination was clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record. *See Palmetto Alliance, Inc., v. S.C. Public Service Commission*, 282 S.C. 430, 319 S.E.2d 695 (1984).

The Commission's finding is grounded in the evidence presented in the record. The Commission's finding of fact contains citations to the source of such finding and provides an insight into the rationale for the finding. The Full Commission agreed with

the Single Commissioner and affirmed her findings of fact on this issue. In its Order, the Full Commission also cited to portions of the record that contain their rationale for the finding of fact.

While it is possible that the Single Commissioner could have decided that Appellant's statements about her work related issues and Dr. Jackson's reports were indicative of her assertion that she is working with restrictions, after weighing the evidence and viewing the record as a whole, the Single Commissioner and Full Commission chose not make that finding. This is a clear example of the Single Commissioner and Full Commission weighing the evidence presented at the hearing and making a determination based on that evidence. As noted above, this Court may not "...substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence." *See Tobey v. L & P Construction Co.*, 296 S.C. 122, 370 S.E.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1988). Further, this appears to be an issue where there are two conclusions that can be drawn from the same evidence. And, as noted above, "[a] judgment upon which reasonable men might differ will not be set aside." *Palmetto Alliance, Inc., v. S.C. Public Service Commission*, 282 S.C. 430, 432, 319 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1984).

The Circuit Court's decision to affirm the Single Commissioner and Full Commission determination that Appellant had returned to work with no restrictions is based upon the substantial evidence presented at the hearing. Further, the Single Commissioner and Full Commission provided rationale for this decision in their respective Orders. This Court should not set aside that determination simply because an alternate conclusion *could* have been reached. For the foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court's Order and the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's Finding of Fact related to Appellant's return to work without restriction should be affirmed.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE FULL COMMISSION'S FINDING OF FACT AND CONCLUSION OF LAW THAT APPELLANT SHOULD BE ASSIGNED A SIX PERCENT (6%) PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT RATING TO BOTH THE LEFT AND RIGHT UPPER EXTREMITIES.

Appellant contends that the Circuit Court erred in affirming the Full Commission of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission in finding the Claimant/Appellant should be assigned a six percent permanent partial impairment rating to both her left and right upper extremities based on a legally insufficient fact finding process related to a grip strength test performed by Appellant.

The Single Commissioner made the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

“17. Based on the substantial evidence, including medical records and testimony, I find that the Claimant is entitled to an award of 6% permanent partial disability benefits to the left arm.

“18. Based on the substantial evidence, including medical records and testimony, I find that the Claimant is entitled to an award of 6% permanent partial disability benefits to the right arm.

(R. p. 13).

and

“7. Pursuant to Section 42-9-30(13), the Claimant is entitled to an award of thirteen and two tenths (13.2) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits, which equals approximately 6% to the right upper extremity”

“8. Pursuant to Section 42-9-30(13), the Claimant is entitled to an award of thirteen and two tenths (13.2) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits, which equals approximately 6% to the left upper extremity”

(R. p. 14)

On appeal, the Full Commission adopted the Single Commissioner's findings of fact and conclusions of law as follows:

"17. Based on the substantial evidence, including medical records and testimony, We find that the Claimant is entitled to an award of 6% permanent partial disability benefits to the left arm.

"18. Based on the substantial evidence, including medical records and testimony, We find that the Claimant is entitled to an award of 6% permanent partial disability benefits to the right arm.

(R. p. 34)

and

"7. Pursuant to Section 42-9-30(13), the Claimant is entitled to an award of eleven (11) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits, which equals approximately 6% to the right upper extremity"

and

"8. Pursuant to Section 42-9-30(13), the Claimant is entitled to an award of eleven (11) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits, which equals approximately 6% to the left upper extremity"

(R. p. 37)

The Full Commission reviewed the Appellant's medical history and went through a lengthy recitation of the factual background in this case. This recitation of facts, summarized below, provides the basis and rationale for its decision to affirm the Single Commissioner's finding of fact and conclusion of law that Appellant suffered a six percent (6%) permanent partial impairment.

Appellant testified that she began experiencing problems with both hands and wrists on September 6, 2006, while working for Johnson Food Services. (R. p. 164, line 16). Appellant sought and received medical treatment with her family physician, Dr.

Gary Bell, who recommended Appellant undergo nerve studies. (R. p. 164, lines 19-23). Based on the medical records, Appellant sought and received additional treatment with Dr. Jackson, who diagnosed her with bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome on November 28, 2006. (R. p. 290). Appellant underwent a right carpal tunnel release on March 1, 2007 with Dr. Green of Midlands Orthopedics. (R. p. 290).

Approximately one month later, Dr. Green released her from his care, indicating she would see a big difference in her strength and tenderness in the coming months. When Appellant remained symptomatic, she returned to Dr. Jackson on August 12, 2007 and received a recommendation for additional electrodiagnostic testing. Appellant returned to Dr. Green on August 24, 2007 with complaints of shooting pain through her wrists with numbness and tingling to her right ring finger and small finger as well as pain up her arm into her shoulder on the left side. (R. p. 290).

Thereafter, Appellant underwent an EMG/NCS of both upper extremities to evaluate her ulnar nerve function. Id. Appellant was ultimately allowed to continue her regular work activities. Id. She underwent another EMG/NCS in September of 2007, which revealed very mild right carpal tunnel syndrome and mild left carpal tunnel syndrome. (R. p. 295). Dr. Green indicated Appellant was not a surgical candidate and recommended a resting splint with repeat nerve studies in 4 to 6 months if symptoms persisted. Id. Dr. Green determined Appellant reached maximum medical improvement with regard to her injuries on February 15, 2008 and assigned a 2% impairment rating to the right upper extremity as well as a 2% impairment rating to the left upper extremity. (R. p. 297).

Five months later, Appellant sought additional treatment with Dr. Green. At this time, she presented with complaints of continued cubital tunnel type symptoms on her

right side as well as left carpal tunnel symptoms. (R. p. 297). Dr. Green recommended the use of a 45-60 degree extension split for her right arm as well as an injection into the left wrist and a Sterapred pack for her cubital tunnel syndrome. Id. In addition, Appellant was ordered to light duty for 3-5 days secondary to her ongoing complaints. (R. p. 299). On August 11, 2008, Appellant presented at a follow-up visit which revealed an improved right mild cubital tunnel syndrome and a mildly improved left carpal tunnel syndrome. (R. p. 300). Dr. Green indicated Appellant was not symptomatic enough to require surgical intervention and he discharged her from his care. Id. Appellant was placed at maximum medical improvement by Dr. Green on August 11, 2008 for her left and right upper extremities with no increase to her impairment ratings for either upper extremity. (R. p. 302). Dr. Green indicated that the Appellant will not need future medical care. Id.

Appellant sought and received additional repeat nerve studies from Dr. Redmond on March 26, 2009. (R. p. 303). These revealed a worsening of her left carpal tunnel syndrome and a finding that the right cubital tunnel syndrome was still mild. Id. Dr. Green indicated that improvement was present in the right carpal tunnel status post release. Id. Dr. Green recommended the Appellant undergo a left carpal tunnel release. (R. p. 304).

Appellant presented to Dr. Green on September 20, 2010, with complaints of worsening symptoms on the left side. (R. p. 305). Dr. Green recommended that she undergo another EMG and NCS to evaluate the possibility of Carpal Tunnel Syndrome and possible Cubital Tunnel Syndrome of both upper extremities. (R. p. 306). On December 27, 2010, Dr. Green determined the Appellant again reached maximum medical improvement and released the Appellant to return to work without restrictions.

(R. p. 308). Dr. Green re-assigned a 2% impairment rating to the left upper extremity and right upper extremity. Id.

Following this final rating and release, at the direction of her attorney, Appellant underwent an independent medical evaluation with Dr. Jackson. Dr. Jackson agreed with Dr. Green and indicated in his diagnostic report dated April 20, 2011 that Appellant was at maximum medical improvement with regard to her right carpal tunnel, left carpal tunnel and right cubital tunnel. Dr. Jackson assigned a 10% impairment rating to each upper extremity, which equaled a 12% impairment rating to the whole person. (R. pp. 303-304). In addition, Dr. Jackson suggested he would assign permanent restrictions to include “no lifting more than 25 lbs, lifting no more than 12 pieces of chicken on a tray, [and] only opening 10 large cans per day.” Id.

At the hearing, Appellant testified that she was currently employed with the Respondents, and was physically capable of performing her job duties and responsibilities with the Respondents. In addition, she stated that Respondents readily provided her with accommodations when she experienced left upper extremity and right upper extremity pain and problems while at work. (R. p. 223, lines 1-5). Appellant stated that she did experience ongoing pain and problems with her left upper extremity and right upper extremity while in the course and scope of her employment with the Respondents. (R. p. 213, lines 11-23). Appellant testified that she currently experienced numbness and tingling in the fingers of both her left hand and right hand. Id. More specifically, she indicated that she experienced increased pain and problems while engaging in specific activities such as lifting large pans of chicken. (R. p. 212, lines 13-18). On the other hand, Appellant indicated that she does not currently utilize any prescription medication for her ongoing left upper extremity and right upper extremity problems and only takes over-the-

counter medication approximately 1-2 days per week when she experiences pain in the left upper extremity and right upper extremity. (R. p. 230, line 25 - p. 231, lines 1-8). In addition, Appellant testified that she does not utilize an assistive device on the left upper extremity or right upper extremity despite her ongoing pain and problems. (R. p. 180, lines 9-15).

As noted above, the Full Commission spent a great deal of time reviewing Appellant's medical history, the hearing transcript, and other evidence before affirming the Single Commissioner's findings of facts and conclusions of law. The Full Commission made the following findings of facts that to explain the rationale behind their decisions:

"11. Based on the substantial evidence, including the medical records and testimony, We find that Dr. Green's assignment of impairment ratings to be somewhat inconsistent or, at the very least, ambiguous. Initially (by medical report), authorized treating physician Dr. Green assigned a 2% impairment rating for each upper extremity. At his deposition, Dr. Green states that he agrees with an impairment rating in the range of 2% - 5%. (CITE) Dr. Green also considers the same range to be appropriate for cubital tunnel symptoms (leading the undersigned to conclude that the initial rating was for carpal tunnel symptoms only). Later in his deposition, Dr. Green assigned a total ("collective") 2% impairment rating. However, the last page of the deposition appears (at least to the undersigned) to revert to the 4% - 10% impairment rating for each upper extremity. Then finally, in a 2011 report, Dr. Green seems to revert (again) to a 2% total rating for each upper extremity. Regardless, my awards are based upon other factors as noted herein. (Defendants' APA #1, pages 8, 13, and 19); Deposition of Dr. Green pages 26-28 and pp. 33-34 and (Claimant APA #2, page 31)." (R. p. 35, lines 4-17)

"12. Based on the substantial evidence, including the medical records and testimony, We find that Claimant's IME physician ultimately assigned a total 10% rating for each upper extremity. We considered these ratings, but

ultimately do not give them as much weight as We give other factors. (Claimant's APA #1, pages 9-10 and 17)." (R. p. 35, lines 18-21)

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